SIZE ZNO

Supreme Court Docket No.
Court Of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Five, Docket No. B206750
Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC351831

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA GROCERS ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, Defendant and Appellant,

SEP **9 –** 2000

and

LOS ANGELES ALLIANCE FOR A NEW ECONOMY, Intervenor and Appellant.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Of California, Second Appellate District, Division Five

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

SCHWARTZ, STEINSAPIR, DOHRMANN & SOMMERS LLP
MARGO A. FEINBERG
HENRY M. WILLIS
6300 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2000
Los Angeles, California 90048-5202

#### INTRODUCTION

This case presents two important issues of constitutional law: does either federal labor law or California's Health and Safety Code preempt the City of Los Angeles's Grocery Worker Retention Ordinance ("the Ordinance" or "the GWRO")? The Court of Appeal's decision, if allowed to stand, would change the law of preemption radically, threatening to outlaw local regulation of employment relations that both state and federal law now permit.

The Ordinance requires an employer that acquires a grocery store located in the City of Los Angeles to offer temporary employment to the employees who worked at that store before the sale. During that ninety day period the employer may fire any of these employees for cause or lay them off for lack of work; at the end of that period it may retain or terminate any or all of them as it sees fit.

The Court of Appeal held that the National Labor Relations Act ("the NLRA"), 29 U.S.C. § 151 *et seq.*, preempts the Ordinance because it would make the new employer a successor, for purposes of the NLRA, if the previous employer had been unionized. That, according to the Court of Appeal, would invade the zone of "market freedom" that Congress intended to leave wholly unregulated by state and local governments, citing Machinists v. Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission (1975) 427 U.S. 132, 96 S.Ct. 2548, 49 L.Ed.2d 396 and Chamber of Commerce v. Brown (2008) 554 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 128 S.Ct. 2408, 171 L.Ed.2d 264.

Both the premise and the conclusion are wrong. The Ordinance does not compel the new employer to recognize or bargain with any union or adopt any collective bargaining agreement to which the previous employer may have been a party. Only the NLRB can decide, if the issue arises, whether the new employer is a successor to the old one for purposes of collective bargaining and, if it is, what consequences flow from that.

Nor does giving workers this temporary measure of job security conflict with federal law. All federal preemption analysis "starts with the basic assumption

that Congress did not intend to displace state law." Maryland v. Louisiana (1981) 451 U.S. 725, 746, 101 S.Ct. 2114, 68 L.Ed.2d 576. As the United States Supreme Court has held repeatedly, Congress never intended, when it passed the NLRA, to interfere with the ability of state and local governments to establish minimum labor standards. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Massachusetts (1985) 471 U.S. 724, 756, 105 S.Ct. 2380, 85 L.Ed.2d 72; Fort Halifax Packing Co., Inc. v. Coyne (1987) 482 U.S. 1, 20-21, 107 S.Ct. 2211, 96 L.Ed.2d 1.

Those cases also make it clear that the <u>Machinists</u> analysis—which preempts state laws that regulate those issues that Congress intended to leave unregulated under the NLRA—does not apply to statutes, such as the GWRO, that set minimum labor standards. <u>Metropolitan Life</u>, 471 U.S. at 755; <u>Fort Halifax</u>, 482 U.S. at 20. Applying a preemption doctrine developed in cases involving the use of economic weapons in a labor dispute to a statute such as the GWRO not only stretches <u>Machinists</u> far beyond what the law permits, but is contrary to the purposes of the NLRA. <u>Metropolitan Life</u>, 471 U.S. at 756; <u>Washington Service</u> Contractors Coalition v. District of Columbia (D.C. Cir. 1995) 54 F.3d 811.

The Court of Appeal also held that the California Retail Food Code ("the CRFC"), Health and Safety Code § 113700 et seq., preempts the GWRO because the Ordinance operates in an area reserved for state regulation—setting health and safety standards for covered grocery stores.

The language of the Ordinance itself dispels that claim. The GWRO is just what its name states: an ordinance that provides grocery workers within the City of Los Angeles with a limited measure of job security when the store where they work changes hands. The GWRO covers a wholly different field—grocery workers' job security—than the one reserved for state regulation under the CRFC. More to the point, the Ordinance does not purport to set health and safety standards applicable to any grocery stores.

The Court of Appeal's approach, which ignores the substantive provisions of the Ordinance and focuses instead on its preamble, represents a dangerous

misapplication of preemption principles. While a state law such as the CRFC can "occupy the field," displacing any local regulation of health and safety standards within food service facilities, that preemptive effect is restricted to the field that the Legislature actually intended to regulate, not legislation in other areas that have only a tenuous connection to it. <u>Harrahill v. City of Monrovia</u> (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 761, 128 Cal.Rptr.2d 552.

In this case those two fields—health and safety regulation by the state and protection of workers' job security by the City—are wholly distinct. Treating them as if they were the same distorts the intent of both the Legislature that passed the CRFC and the City Council that enacted the GWRO.

These issues are critically important to not only to workers throughout California, but also to legislators. Preemption is a powerful tool for undoing legislative advances. The risk of misapplying preemption doctrines is especially great in those cases in which the court departs from the clear language of the statute or ordinance in search of a supposed conflict with another law passed by another body to address other, unrelated concerns. Judicial restraint and due regard for both the authority of the body whose legislation is being preempted and that of the body whose legislation is used as the tool for overriding such legislation requires that preemption be invoked only when absolutely necessary and even then only to the extent compelled by the supposedly preempting statute.

This case illustrates what can happen when preemption is used as a meat axe rather than a scalpel. The Court of Appeal held (1) that a law passed to foster collective bargaining preempts a local ordinance that does not attempt to regulate, much less interfere with, collective bargaining and (2) that another statute enacted to provide uniform statewide regulation of health and safety standards in food service facilities invalidates a local ordinance that governs workers' economic rights, not the manner in which they handle food products. Review should be granted in order to bring consistency and logic to the courts' decisions in these important areas of constitutional law and public policy.

#### **GROUNDS FOR REVIEW**

This Court has the authority to order review of decisions of the Court of Appeal in order to settle important questions of law and to secure uniformity of decision. (California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1)) Review is appropriate in this case in order to decide two important issues of law: whether either California or federal law preempts a municipal ordinance that provides limited and temporary job security rights for employees of grocery stores in the event of a sale or transfer of the store.

The Court of Appeal's decision is contrary to governing federal authority, which protects the power of state and local governments to enact legislation establishing minimum labor standards from preemption under the NLRA.

Metropolitan Life, supra; Fort Halifax, supra; Washington Service Contractors

Coalition, supra. The Court of Appeal's decision not only blocks enforcement of this Ordinance, but casts doubt on California's worker retention statute, Labor Code § 1060 et seq., and a number of local ordinances. See, e.g., Berkeley

Municipal Code, ch. 13.25, Gardena Municipal Code, ch. 5.10, Los Angeles

Municipal Code § 183.00 et seq., San Diego Municipal Code, § 22.2801, San

Francisco Municipal Code, art. 33D, and Santa Monica Municipal Code, ch. 5.40.

This case also raises a serious legal question as to the standards to be applied in judging determining when, and to what extent, the judiciary may override the municipal legislative process to find local ordinances preempted by statutes governing a different field. The Court of Appeal's decision is in conflict with this Court's application of preemption principles in <a href="Big Creek Lumber Co.v.">Big Creek Lumber Co. v.</a>
County of Santa Cruz (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1139, 1152, 45 Cal.Rptr.3d 21, 136 P.3d 821, as well as the decision in <a href="Southern California Edison Co.v. Public Utilities">Southern California Edison Co. v. Public Utilities</a>
Commission (State Building & Construction Trades Council of California) (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1085, 45 Cal.Rptr.3d 485 and the Second Appellate District's own decision in <a href="Harrahill">Harrahill</a>, supra, thereby requiring this Court's review in order to secure uniformity of decision.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff California Grocers Association ("CGA") filed its complaint on May 4, 2006. CGA sought a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief on four claims: (1) the Ordinance is preempted by federal labor law, (2) the Ordinance denies CGA's members the equal protection of the laws, (3) the Ordinance is preempted by the Health and Safety Code and (4) the Ordinance is preempted by Section 2922 of the Labor Code. Petitioner Los Angeles Alliance for a New Economy ("LAANE") was granted leave to intervene as a defendant.

The case proceeded to trial on August 1 and 2, 2007. The Court entered judgment on February 11, 2008, in which it held that the Ordinance denies CGA's members the equal protection of the laws and is preempted by the CRFC. The Superior Court rejected CGA's federal labor law preemption claim.

CGA and LAANE appealed. The Court of Appeal, in a decision entered on July 30, 2009, held that the Ordinance is preempted by both the Health and Safety Code and federal labor law. Neither defendant has sought rehearing by the Court of Appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The GWRO went into effect on February 13, 2006. As Section 181.00 of the Ordinance states, it is intended to serve three purposes: (1) to maintain health and safety standards in grocery establishments, (2) to preserve the quality of service by employees of such stores, which are essential to the vitality of any community, and (3) to ensure the stability of the workforce upon change of ownership.<sup>1</sup>

The Ordinance seeks to accomplish these goals by requiring employers who take over operations of a covered store—defined in Section 181.01(E) as "a retail store in the City of Los Angeles that is over 15,000 square feet in size and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the Ordinance is attached as Exhibit B to this Petition.

sells primarily household foodstuffs for offsite consumption"—to hire from a preferential hiring list of covered employees<sup>2</sup> of the predecessor employer for ninety days after the new employer opens its store to the public (Ordinance, § 181.02(B)) and to retain those employees for ninety days. (Ordinance, § 181.03(A)) The previous employer shall provide the new employer with a list of all "Eligible Grocery Workers" (Ordinance, § 181.02(B)) and give notice of the change in ownership to the community at large by posting information concerning the new owner and the date of the change in ownership in a place where it can be seen by both employees and customers. (Ordinance, § 181.04)

The new employer may lay off employees if it determines that it requires fewer employees than its predecessor; should it do so, then it shall lay off employees by seniority or, if it is party to a collective bargaining agreement that provides a different system for determining layoffs, pursuant to the terms of that agreement. (Ordinance, § 181.03(B)) It may also fire employees for cause during this ninety-day period. (Ordinance, § 181.03(C))

The new employer is not obligated to retain Eligible Grocery Workers at the end of that ninety-day period; instead the Ordinance requires it to conduct a written evaluation of the employee's performance and to consider retention of those whom it deems satisfactory. (Ordinance, § 181.03(D)) Employees wrongfully denied employment or otherwise discriminated against may bring an action in Superior Court to obtain instatement in a suitable position and to recover backpay, attorneys' fees and other appropriate relief. (Ordinance, § 181.05)

The new employer can, if it is a party to a collective bargaining agreement covering these employees, agree as part of that agreement to supersede the provisions of the Ordinance by the terms of the agreement. (Ordinance, § 181.07)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Ordinance limits retention rights to those employees whose primary place of employment was at the store in question, and who had worked for the former employer for at least six months before the change in ownership and excludes managerial, supervisory, and confidential employees. (Ordinance, § 181.01(c))

Finally, the Ordinance provides that the invalidity of any portion of the Ordinance shall not impair the validity of the remaining provisions. (Ordinance, § 181.09)

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A. MISAPPLICATION OF FEDERAL LABOR LAW PREEMPTION PRINCIPLES WEAKENS CALIFORNIA'S REGULATORY AUTHORITY

The Grocery Workers Retention Ordinance provides modest and temporary job security protections for the employees of grocery stores undergoing a change of ownership in order to ensure the stability of the workforce during that transition. While it obligates the new grocery store owners to hire from a list of former employees of the old business and to retain those employees for up to ninety days, it does not require the new employer to provide the same wages or benefits as the previous business or to recognize or bargain with any union that represented those employees.

The Ordinance applies, moreover, to all grocery stores of a certain size, both union and non-union, within the City of Los Angeles. The Court of Appeal held, however, that the Ordinance is preempted because it could force grocery store operators who acquire stores from unionized employers to become successors within the meaning of the NLRA. Therefore, so the argument goes, the Ordinance unlawfully interferes with "the free play of economic forces" that Congress intended to determine matters of this sort.

Both of these propositions are wrong as a matter of law. As Justice Mosk noted in his dissent, the Ordinance does not force any employer to recognize or bargain with any union that represents the employees of the previous employer. That decision is left to the NLRB to decide on a case-by-case basis, based on the totality of the circumstances, <u>Fall River Dyeing & Finishing Corp. v. NLRB</u> (1987) 482 U.S. 27, 43, 107 S.Ct. 2225, 96 L.Ed.2d 22—including whether a significant number of employees actually take up the new employer's offer.

<u>Washington Service Contractors</u>, 54 F.3d at 816. While the majority claims that successorship was a foregone conclusion if the new employer is required to offer employment to the previous owner's employees, it could only hold onto that belief by ignoring federal law in this area.

The Court likewise treated the fact that this Ordinance covers all displaced grocery workers, whether they are represented by a union or not, as meaningless. It is, in fact, critical. As the United States Supreme Court took pains to emphasize in both Metropolitan Life and Fort Halifax, the Machinists doctrine does not preempt state and local laws that set minimum labor standards applicable to both union and non-union employees; on the contrary, it applies only to state and local laws that attempt to limit an employer or union's right to use the economic weapons available in a labor dispute, *e.g.*, strikes, slowdowns and lockouts, Machinists, *supra*, or to short-circuit collective bargaining by imposing an agreement on the parties, Building & Construction Trades Council v.

Associated Builders & Contractors of Mass./R. I., Inc. (1993) 507 U.S. 218, 113
S.Ct. 1190, 122 L.Ed.2d 565 ("Boston Harbor"), or to limit a party's ability to exercise the free speech rights protected by Section 8(c) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 158(c). Brown, *supra*.

The Ordinance in question does not do any of these things. The Court of Appeal wrongly held that the Ordinance was preempted by federal law.

# 1. The Ordinance Does Not Force Employers To Recognize Or Bargain With Any Union

The Ordinance does not require any employer to recognize or bargain with any union. Like the District of Columbia Displaced Workers Protection Act, the Ordinance leaves that issue to the NLRB to decide on a case-by-case basis on the totality of the circumstances. Washington Service Contractors, 54 F.3d at 816.

There is absolutely no guarantee that the new employer will be a successor under the NLRA. The issue does not even arise, for one thing, if the prior owner

was not unionized. And even if it were, there is no assurance that a significant number of the employees of the prior employer will accept an offer of temporary employment from the new employer. If they do not make up a majority of the new employer's workforce then successorship is not an issue.

Successorship is not automatic, moreover, even if the new employer hires a majority of its workforce from the unionized employees of the prior employer. As Justice Mosk took pains to point out, "[t]he determination whether an employer is a 'successor' 'is primarily factual in nature and is based upon the totality of the circumstances of a given situation.'" (Dissent at 11, citing <u>Fall River</u>, 482 U.S. at 43) The majority not only refused to recognize <u>Fall River</u>'s teaching on this issue, but constructed in its place a simplified—but imaginary—body of federal law that makes successorship automatic.

Federal law is, however, far more complex. An employer that takes over the business of a unionized employer is not obligated to bargain as a successor unless and until (1) it hires a representative complement of employees,<sup>3</sup> (2) of which a majority are employees of the predecessor who had been represented by the union, (3) in an appropriate unit,<sup>4</sup> (4) at the time that the union has demanded recognition,<sup>5</sup> (5) provided that the successor does not have a good faith doubt of the union's continuing majority support. NLRB v. Burns International Security Services, Inc. (1972) 406 U.S. 272, 280-81, 92 S.Ct. 1571, 32 L.Ed.2d 61; Fall River, 482 U.S. at 46-52. The NLRB will, moreover, allow the new employer to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., <u>Cascade General v. NLRB</u> (9th Cir. 1993) 9 F.3d 731 (employer that had not hired a representative complement of employees violated Act by recognizing union).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g., <u>Banknote Corp. v. NLRB</u> (2d Cir. 1996) 84 F.3d 637, 649 (employer not obligated to recognize union when unit was no longer appropriate for bargaining).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., <u>Royal Midtown Chrysler Plymouth</u> (1989) 296 NLRB 1039 (employer not obligated to recognize union that did not demand recognition until after it no longer represented a majority of employees of new employer).

raise doubts as to the union's actual majority status at any time after it takes over the predecessor's operations.<sup>6</sup>

The Court of Appeal refused to acknowledge any of these uncertainties. Instead it assumed—as it had to in order for its preemption analysis to get off the ground—that employees would always accept the invitation to work under whatever conditions the new employer offered, that these employees would remain a distinct unit and that successor status was therefore unavoidable.

Why should these uncertainties make a difference? Because they mean that the members of the NLRB applying federal law, not the terms of the Ordinance, will determine whether the new employer will or will not be obligated to bargain with any union that represents employees of the prior store owner. The majority's preemption analysis collapses once it admits that possibility.<sup>7</sup>

// .

The majority simply could not let go of its assumption, even when it tried to imagine a different scenario, that successorship was somehow automatic if the employer were required to offer employment to the employees of the prior owner. That unshakeable—but mistaken—belief on the majority's part distorted its preemption analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> MV Transportation (2002) 337 NLRB 770 (union that obtained bargaining rights with successor employer had only rebuttable presumption of majority status); Nott Co. (2005) 345 NLRB 396 (employer not obligated to bargain with union when union lost majority in consolidated unit formed by adding new employees to its existing workforce). As the Justice Mosk notes, the NLRB might apply these cases to an employer that has terminated the employees of the previous employer at the end of ninety days. (Dissent at 10-11)

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