SUPREME COURT COPY

S176099

SUBBEME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SEP 2 8 2009

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

CALIFORNIA GROCERS ASSOCIATION, -

v.

Deputy

Plaintiff-Respondent,

CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

Defendant-Appellant,

and

LOS ANGELES ALLIANCE FOR A NEW ECONOMY,

Intervenor-Appellant.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five Case No. B206750

Appeal from the Los Angeles Superior Court Honorable Ralph W. Dau, Judge Case No. BC351831

ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

Richard S. Ruben (#67364)

JONES DAY

3 Park Plaza, Suite 1100

Irvine, CA 92614

Telephone: (949) 851-3939

Facsimile: (949) 553-7539

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

requiring the uninterrupted employment of employees with knowledge of food and safety standards. *Id.*

The court's ruling was buttressed by the ordinance's express purpose of regulating in the preempted field of health and sanitation standards. Given the statute's express language, the court concluded that it is not relevant that some individual city council members may have supported the ordinance for the additional reason that it *also* offered job security for grocery store workers. Op. at 13. The court concluded, after a searching review of the record, that "[i]t is clear that the ordinance was carefully tailored to maintain health and safety standards and not designed simply to protect displaced workers." *Id*.

2. <u>Federal preemption</u>

The Court of Appeal also found that the ordinance is independently preempted by federal labor law. The court analyzed the ordinance under so-called *Machinists* preemption, which prevents states and municipalities from regulating "conduct that Congress intended be unregulated because left to be controlled by the free play of economic forces." Op. at 16-17 (quoting *Chamber of Commerce of U.S. v. Brown*, 128 S.Ct. 2408, 2412 (2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). This doctrine recognizes that Congress "chose to regulate some aspects of labor activities and to leave others unrestricted by *any* governmental power to regulate." *Id.* at 17 (quoting *United Steelworkers of America v. St. Gabriel's Hosp.*, 871 F. Supp. 335, 340 (D. Minn. 1994) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).

The court found the GWRO preempted under *Machinists* because it intrudes into the area of "successorship obligations," which Congress intentionally left "to be controlled by the free play of market forces." Op. at 28 (quoting Wash. Serv. Contractors Coal. v. Dist. of Columbia, 54 F.3d 811, 820 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (Sentelle, J., dissenting)). The Supreme Court's jurisprudence on federal successorship law holds that the decision whether to hire a majority, or even any, of a predecessor's employees is a matter that the NLRA left to the prerogative of the successor and the free play of market forces. Op. at 22. The successor's election has important ramifications because "if a substantial continuity is found to exist between the two businesses, the new employer is required to bargain with the representative of employees of a former employer." *Id.* at 26. Technically, whether a "substantial continuity" exists turns on several factors, but as a practical matter, "a new employer who hires all of the employees of a predecessor company will generally be required to bargain with the employee's representative, regardless of any other circumstances." *Id.* at 27.

The Court of Appeal found that the GWRO intrudes upon this area by obligating successors to hire their predecessor's employees, thereby effectively forcing successors to recognize the predecessor employees' representative. "Thus," the court wrote, "in cases subject to the NLRA, the ordinance imposes a bargaining obligation on all new grocery store employers that the NLRA imposes on only those employers who freely hire the predecessor's employees." Op. at 27.

3. Equal protection

The majority opinion did not address the trial court's ruling that the GWRO is also invalid on equal protection grounds. The dissent found the classifications drawn by the ordinance—including the classification between: (1) grocery stores on the one hand and membership clubs on the other; (2) grocery establishments more than 15,000 square feet in size and those less than 15,000 square feet in size; (3) grocery establishments and other food retailers; and (4) stores whose employees enter a collective bargaining agreement with the owner and those that do not—reasonably related to its objectives, and would have reversed the trial court on that basis. Op. Dissent at 8-10.

WHY THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

Consistent with its unique role, this Court exercises its discretionary power to entertain appeals in civil cases "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). Because neither concern is implicated by the Court of Appeal decision, this Court should deny the petitions.

I. THE STATE PREEMPTION RULING CORRECTLY APPLIED WELL-SETTLED PREEMPTION PRINCIPLES.

A. The Court of Appeal Properly Evaluated Both the Stated Purpose and the Effect of the GWRO.

Petitioners argue that review is proper to secure uniformity of decision. According to petitioner LAANE (Int. Pet. at 4), the Court of Appeal's preemption analysis conflicts with *Big Creek Lumber Co. v. County of Santa Cruz*, 38 Cal. 4th 1139 (2006), and *Harrahill v. City of Monrovia*, 104 Cal. App. 4th 761 (2002). But those cases stand only for the

unremarkable proposition that when a court examines whether an ordinance is preempted by a state statute that fully occupies a field of regulation, the court must first define the field at issue. *Big Creek Lumber*, 38 Cal. 4th at 1152; *Harrahill*, 104 Cal. App. 4th at 770. Here, the Court of Appeal *did* define the field fully occupied by the CRFC—"health and sanitation standards for retail food facilities, including employee knowledge of food safety," (Op. at 12)—and concluded that the ordinance intruded into that field. No conflict in decisions exists.²

Petitioners also contend that the Court of Appeal deviated from traditional statutory analysis by analyzing only the ordinance's preamble, rather than its "purpose and effect." Def. Pet. at 8; see also Int. Pet. at 19-20 (arguing that the Court of Appeal ignored the GWRO's substantive provisions and focused entirely on the preamble). However, the Court of Appeal did examine both the ordinance's purpose and its effect. The court first examined the GWRO's text and anticipated effect and found that "[t]he operative provisions" of the ordinance intrude into the field of health and sanitation at grocery stores by obligating new grocery employers to hire "an experienced workforce that is knowledgeable about health and sanitation standards for the first 90 days of operation." Op. at 12. The court concluded that it was improper for the City to enact an ordinance that had

LAANE also suggests that the decision below conflicts with So. Cal. Edison Co. v. Pub. Util. Comm'n, 140 Cal. App. 4th 1085 (2006). Int. Pet. at 4. That case found that a requirement that utilities pay a "prevailing wage" to utility construction workers was not preempted by the NLRA because it was a generally applicable labor standard that neither encouraged nor discouraged collective bargaining. That decision is irrelevant here for the reasons discussed below (see infra, pp. 21-22, 22 n.4).

the effect of requiring grocery employers "to hire employees with more training and experience than required under state law." *Id.* at 13.

The court then also examined the express statement of purpose and the legislative history and concluded that "the City intended to regulate health and sanitation standards in grocery establishments through enactment of the Grocery Worker Retention Ordinance." Op. at 14. The court recognized that, to determine whether the GWRO attempts to enter the preempted field of health and sanitation at grocery stores, the court had to look "not only at the face of the ordinance, but also at the purpose for which the ordinance was enacted." Op. at 12 (quoting *Bravo Vending*, 16 Cal. App. 4th at 404). Review of both purpose and effect is critical because, if the legislature intends to fully occupy a field, "then local entities should not be allowed to frustrate that intent by enforcing ordinances which have the purpose and effect of intruding into that restricted subject matter, but which are so carefully drafted as to avoid the appearance of doing so." Op. at 12 (quoting *Bravo Vending*, 16 Cal. App. 4th at 405).

Because the Court of Appeal faithfully applied settled law, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeal's preemption analysis and the analysis used by other California courts. In fact, it is petitioners who propose a preemption analysis that California courts have soundly rejected. In LAANE's view, no conflict need be found if one ignores both the preamble and the real-world effect of the ordinance, and focuses solely on the form—or perhaps just the title—of the ordinance. *See* Int. Pet. at 2 ("The GWRO is just what its name states. . . . [T]he Ordinance does not purport to set health and safety standards applicable to any grocery

stores."). But as *Bravo Vending* held, it is not determinative what the GWRO *purports* to regulate; if it were, municipalities could evade preemption simply by artful drafting. The determinative question, rather, is whether the purpose and effect of the ordinance is to enter a field fully occupied by state law.

Likewise groundless is petitioners' assertion that the decision below will invalidate other worker retention laws throughout California. Def. Pet. at 14-15. First, the state law preemption holding does not have any bearing on retention ordinances that apply outside of the grocery context. For example, retention ordinances for hotel workers, *see* Los Angeles Service Contract Worker Retention Ordinance, Los Angeles Administrative Code § 10.36, and janitors, Cal. Labor Code §§ 1060-1065, do not threaten the State's interest in "uniform statewide health and sanitation standards for retail food facilities."

Second, the Court of Appeal's ruling does not address ordinances enacted pursuant to a local government's role as market participant. The Court's ruling thus does not preclude local governments from arguing that such ordinances are not subject to preemption because they represent an exercise of a local government's contracting power rather than its regulatory power. *See Burns Int'l Sec. Servs. Corp. v. County of Los Angeles*, 123 Cal. App. 4th 162, 178 (2004). The Court of Appeal's state preemption ruling extends no further than this case and the handful of "copy-cat" grocery retention ordinances passed in the wake of the GWRO. *See* Santa Monica, Cal., Grocery Retention Ordinance, Municipal Code ch. 5.40 (enacted May 25, 2006); S.F., Cal., Grocery Retention Ordinance,

Police Code art. 33D (enacted May 12, 2006); Gardena, Cal., Grocery Worker Retention Ordinance, Municipal Code ch. 5.10 (enacted Apr. 27, 2006).

B. The Court of Appeal's Ruling that the GWRO Intrudes Into a Field Fully Occupied by the CFRC Was Correct.

In addition to not conflicting with other decisions, the Court of Appeal's ruling was correct. In enacting the California Retail Food Code, the California Legislature made plain that it intended "to occupy the whole field of health and sanitation standards for retail food facilities." Cal. Health & Safety Code § 113705. Field preemption in this area is important because "uniform statewide health and sanitation standards for retail food facilities . . . assure the people of this state that the food will be pure, safe, and unadulterated." *Id*.

Under settled principles of "field preemption," any local regulation that "attempts to impose additional requirements" in that occupied field is invalid. *Tolman v. Underhill*, 39 Cal. 2d 708, 712 (1952). It is immaterial whether the GWRO's requirements could be reconciled with the CRFC; all that is necessary to establish preemption is that the GWRO "purports to regulate an area that is fully occupied by express provisions of the state law." *City of Watsonville v. State Dep't of Health Servs.*, 133 Cal. App. 4th 875, 885-86 (2005).

The foregoing principles establish that the GWRO is preempted by state law. Using the broadest possible preemptive language, the California Legislature unambiguously declared its intent to occupy the entire field of health and safety standards related to retail food facilities. By doing so, the

Legislature precluded local regulation on the same subject. Yet when the Los Angeles City Council adopted the GWRO, it enacted a regulation that both expressly purports to enter the preempted field and does, in fact, establish health and safety standards in grocery stores.

Even if the GWRO's preamble were shorn from its text, the ordinance would be void on the ground that its substantive provisions enter a preempted field. See Stephenson v. City of Palm Springs, 52 Cal. 2d 407, 410 (1959) (holding that municipal "right-to-work" ordinance impermissibly invaded field occupied by the State, despite announced intention of ordinance to prohibit only agreements neither prohibited nor authorized by state laws). The CRFC requires that "food employees" be "properly trained in[] food safety" (Cal. Health & Safety Code § 113947), and that each food facility have at least one owner or employee who is certified in food safety. *Id.* § 113947.1. Most importantly, the Legislature specified that grocery stores are not required to maintain any certified employees upon a change of control for a sixty-day grace period. *Id.* § 113947.1(e). By these provisions, the Legislature made clear that requirements relating to retention of trained and experienced food service employees—particularly in connection with a change in control of the store—are "health and sanitation standards" over which the State has reserved exclusive control.

The GWRO not only attempts to regulate in the preempted field, it does so in a different and more onerous way. The GWRO requires all employees to have food health and safety expertise and thus mandates retention of all employees upon a change in ownership. By contrast, the

CRFC (1) requires that only certain employees be trained in food safety, (2) requires that only one employee per store be certified in food safety, (3) does not require that even the certified employee be retained when the store is purchased, and (4) gives a full sixty days for the new owner to come into compliance with the certification requirement. In drafting the CRFC's employee knowledge provisions, the Legislature carefully balanced two competing considerations, *i.e.*, the need to protect the public from food contamination and the concern that requiring food safety knowledge on the part of multiple employees or mandating immediate compliance with the statute upon a change of ownership would unduly burden supermarket owners. The GWRO upsets that balance, thereby obstructing the full purpose of the CRFC.

The City Council's statement of purpose confirms that the GWRO is preempted. Despite the fact that state law preempts the field of health and sanitation in retail food facilities, the Los Angeles City Council expressly announced its intention to establish more onerous standards for "health and safety" in grocery stores. The City Attorney, which repeatedly and unambiguously advised the City Council that the sole purpose of the GWRO was to protect food health and safety, now takes the position that the City was acting to protect jobs, without regard to health and safety issues. The Court of Appeal found that the City's current position is not credible, as it is contradicted by the express language of the ordinance and the contemporaneous statements of the City Attorney and the City Council.

"[W]here the Legislature has expressly declared its intent, we must accept the declaration." *Tyrone v. Kelley*, 9 Cal. 3d 1, 11 (1973). In

combination with the effect of the ordinance, the ordinance's express but impermissible purpose mandates the GWRO's invalidation. *See Gade v. Nat'l Solid Wastes Mgmt. Ass'n*, 505 U.S. 88, 105 (1992) (holding that a "state law that expressly declares a legislative purpose of regulating occupational health and safety" is preempted under a federal statute precluding such state law regulation).

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S FEDERAL PREEMP-TION RULING LIKEWISE DOES NOT MERIT REVIEW.

Petitioners also seek review of the Court of Appeal's ruling that the GWRO is preempted under federal labor law. This aspect of the court's decision likewise fails to merit review under the standards of Rule 8.500(b)(1).

A. The Asserted Conflict with Certain Federal Decisions on an Issue of Federal Law Does Not Support Review.

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